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1
A Visitor for Sherlock Holmes

or many years, | shared an apartrment in London with my

friend, Sherlock Holmes.

My name is Doctor Watson. [ worked asa doctor in the British
Army for several years. While I wasin the army, I travelled to many
strange and interesting places. | had many exciting adventures.

Then one day, in Afghanistan, I was shot in the shoulder. My
wound was deep and took many months to heal. 1 nearly died
from pain and fever. At last 1 got better, but I could not work
in the army any more. I retired from the army and came back to
England.

That is why I was living in London with Sherlock Holmes. |
had known my friend for many years. Qur address was 22 1B Baker
Street, in the centre of the city.

I enjoyed sharing an apartment with Holmes. My friend
was a very clever man. He was the most famous private
detective! in London. He helped to solve crimes and carch
criminals.

When people were in trouble or needed help, they came to
Holmes. Sometimes the police came to Holmes and asked for help
in catching a criminal.

Sherlock Holmes did not care if his clients® were rich or poor.
He enjoyed solving their interesting problems. He was very
happy when he was working. It was the most important ching
in his life.

One afternoon, | was reading a book and Holmes was standing
by the window in our sitting-room. Usually he was very busy and
active. But this afternoon he did not seem very happy. I was
worried about my friend.

‘What's the matter with you today, Holmes?' [ asked.
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A Visitor for Sherlock Holmes

‘Come and stand at the window, Watson,” Holmes said.
‘Look out into the street. See how uninteresting London is
today.’

[t was winter. The street outside was almost empry. Everyone
was at home in front of their warm fires.

‘I need some work, Watson,” said Holmes impatiently’.
‘1 cannot live without interesting problems and mysteries.
Thae’s why [ became a private detective. | love my work.
It keeps my brain active. But when there are no crimes and
no mysteries to solve — ah, then life becomes very boring
for me.’

He turned sadly away from the window.

At that moment, there was a knock at the door. Our house-
keeper* came into the room. She was carrying a small white card
on a silver tray’. Holmes picked up the card.

«*Miss Mary Morstan,’ he read aloud. ‘T don't know anyone of
that name. Please ask the lady to come in. Perhaps it is a new
client.’

A few moments later, Miss Morstan entered the room. She
was young and not very tall, with blonde hair and blue eyes. Her
clothes were not fashionable, but they were clean and tidy. She
had a lovely face. I noticed at once that she looked worried and
unhappy.

‘Please sit down, Miss Morstan,’ said Holmes kindly. ‘1
am Sherlock Holmes and this is my good friend, Doctor
Watson. Doctor Watson and 1 have worked together many
times.’

‘I'm very pleased to meet you both,’ said the young lady.
Then she turned to Holmes and looked at him with her lovely
blue eyes.

‘Mr Holmes, I've heard that you give people good advice.
Pm not a rich woman but [ hope you can help me rtoo.
Something very strange has happened. Mr Holmes, T need
your help!’



Miss Morstan’s Story

Miss Morstan’s Story

I I olmes rubbed his hands together exciredly. His eyes shone
and he leant forward in his chair.

‘Tell us your story,” he said.

Miss Morstan began her story and we listened.

‘My father,’ she began, ‘was a captain in the army. When | was
very young, he was sent to India. My mother was dead and I had no
otherrelativesin England. So, while my father wasaway, I wassent
to school.

‘When 1 was seventeen, I received a letter from my father. He
said that he was leaving India and coming back to England. He
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gave me the address of a hotel in London. He asked me to meet
him there.

‘I was very happy and excited about seeing my dear father
again. 1 went to London and arrived at the hotel. 1 asked for
Captain Morstan, my father. But 1 was told by the hotel manager
that my father was not there. He had gone out the night before and
not returned.

‘1 waited all day and all night, but my facher didn't come back
to the hotel. Finally, I went to the police. They advertised® for
Captain Morstan in all the newspapers, but without success. |
never saw my dear father again.’

Miss Morstan began to cry.

Holmes opened his notebook. ‘What was the date that your
father disappeared?’ he asked.

‘It was 3rd December 1878 - nearly ten years ago.’

‘What happened to his luggage?’

‘It was still at the hotel,’ replied Miss Morstan. “The cases
contained some books and clothes, and some paintings and
ornaments’ from the Andaman Istands.’

“The Andaman Islands. What are they?’ I asked.

‘A small group of islands near the coast of India,’ said Miss
Morstan. ‘There is a prison on one of the islands. My father was
one of the officers in charge of the prisoners. He worked there for
many years.’

‘Did your father have any friends in London?’ asked Holmes.

‘Only one — Major Sholto. He was also in charge of the
prisoners in the Andaman Islands. The Major had retired from
the army some time before my father disappeared. He was living
in London and, of course, | went to see him. But he didn't know
that my father had arrived in England.’

“Your story is very interesting,” said Holmes, rubbing his hands
together.once more. ‘Please, go on.’

‘Four years after my father disappeared,” continued Miss
Morstan, ‘I saw an advertisement in the newspaper. The date
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- Miss Morstan’s Story

was 4th May 1882. To my surprise, the advertisement asked for
the address of Miss Mary Morstan. Tt said thart if | advertised my
address, I would receive some very good news.’

‘“Whart did you do?’ asked Holmes.

‘Tadvertised my address in the same newspaper. The next day,
I received a small cardboard box. Inside the box was a lavely pearl.
And I have received another five pearls since that day. They arrive
every year on the same day. Look.’

She opened a flat box and showed us six beautiful pearls.
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‘There was no letter with the pearls?’ asked Holmes.

‘Nothing at ali,” replied Miss Morstan. Then she continued,
‘But the strangest thing of all happened this morning. That is why
{ came to see you. This morning, [ received a letter. Please read it.”
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‘Thank you,’ said Holmes. He took the letter and studied it
carefully. Then he handed it to me.

London
17th November 1887
Dear Miss Morstan,

Go to the Lyceum Theatre tonight at seven o’clock. Stand ottside
the entrance, on the left. If you are afraid, bring two friends. Do not
bring the police.

You have been deceived, but you will learn the truth tonighe.

Yoter Unknown Friend

‘What can this letter mean?' asked Miss Morstan. ‘1 am afraid.
What should T do, Mr Holmes? You are a clever man and can give
me good advice.’

Holmes jumped up exciredly.

‘We shall go tonight to the Lyceum Theatre — the three of us —
you and me and Doctor Watson. The letter asks you to bring two
friends with you. You will come with us, won't you, Watson?’

‘Of course,’ I said. ‘I'll be very happy to come.’

I was speaking the truth. 1 wanted to help Miss Morstan.

‘You are both very kind,’ said Miss Morstan. ‘Since my father
disappeared, I have been alone in the world. I have no friends
whom [ can ask for help. What time shall we meet this evening?”’

Holmes looked at his watch.

‘It’s now half past three,” he said. ‘Come back at six o'clock.
Don't be afraid, Miss Morstan. This evening we'll come with you
to the Lyceum Theatre, We'll meet your unknown friend. And
we'll try to solve the mystery.’

‘Thank you,’ said Miss Morstan. She smiled at us and left
the room,

‘“What a lovely woman,’ | remarked.

‘I'm going out now,’ said Holmes. ‘I'll be back in about an
hour.’



A Strange Meeting

When Holmes had gone I sat down by the window and tried to

read a book. But I could not stop thinking about Miss Morstan. |
hoped that we would be able to help her.
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A t half past five, Holmes returned. He was very pleased about

something.

‘I have had great success, Watson,” he said, as | gave him a
cup of tea,

. “What, Holmes! Have you solved the mystery already?’ lasked
in surprise.

‘No, no. But | have discovered something very interesting.
Miss Morstan said that her father had a very good friend in India.
His name was Major Sholto.’

‘Yes," I said. ‘Major Sholto had retired from the army, He was
living in London when Caprain Morstan disappeared. But he did
not know that Morstan was in England.’

‘Well,” said Holmes. ‘I have just been to the offices of The
Times newspaper. I looked through the old copies of the news-
[lzgg;r? and 1 discovered that Major Sholio died on 28th April

‘Perhaps 1 am very stupid, Holmes, but I don’t see why this
discovery is interesting.’

‘Listen,” Holmes said. ‘Captain Morstan disappeared. He had
one friend in Léndon — Major Sholto. But Major Sholto said that
he didn’t know that Captain Morstan was in London.

‘Four years later, on 28th April 1882, Sholto died. A few
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days later, on 4th May 1882, Captain Morstan’s daughter saw
the-advertisement in a newspaper. Then, she received a valuable
present. These presents came every year. Why do the presents
arrive on that day? They must have something to do with Sholto’s
death.’

I was still puzzled. ‘But Sholto died six years ago,” 1 said.
‘Why did Miss Morstan receive that letter roday ~ six years
later! The letter speaks of telling her the truth. What can it
mean!’

‘T hope that we'll find the answers to these questions tonight,
Watson,’ said Holmes seriously. ‘Are you ready? It’s six o’clock
and here is Miss Morstan.’

Miss Morstan entered the room. She was wearing a dark
cloak and hat. She did not seem afraid, but her beautiful face
was very pale.

I picked up my hat and my heaviest stick. [ noticed that
Holmes took his gun from his drawer and put it into his
pocket.

We got into a cab® and were soon on our way to the Lyceum
Theatre. In the cab, Miss Morstan took a piece of paper out of
her bag.

‘Mr Holmes, 1 forgot to show you this. This note was found
in my father’s luggage. It is very strange. I don’t know what
it means. Perhaps it isn't very important, but | wanted you to
see it.’

Holmes unfolded the note carefully and spread it on his knee.
He took a magnifying glass'® out of his pocket and examined the
paper.

“This paper was made in India,” he remarked. ‘Have a look at
it, Watson.’

1 took the note and studied it carefully. The paper was thinand
old. There was a drawing on the paper.

‘It looks like the plan of a large building,’ 1 said. ‘Somebody has
made a mark to show a certain place in the building. But what are
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- A Strange Meeting

these names at the bottom? And what is the meaning of — “The
Sign of Four"?’

3
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‘I don’t understand what this note means,’ sard Holmes. ‘But
it might be important. I will keep it.’

He sat back in the cab. Miss Morstan and 1 talked quiecly
together. But Holmes did nor say anything. I knew he was
thinking hard.

It was getting dark and the people in the streets were hurrying
home from work. I was feeling a little afraid. | wondered what kind
of person we would meet at the Lyceum Theatre.

There were many people outside the theatre, Everyone was
meeting friends and going in to see the play. The letter had told
us to stand outside on the left. We waited. Suddenly a small dark
man appeared.

12
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‘Are you Miss Morstan and her friends?’ he asked.

“Yes,' she said.

“You must promise me that these men are not policemen,’ said
the stranger.

“They are not policemen,’ replied Miss Morstan.

“Then come with me,’ said the man.

He led us quickly across the street ro another cab and opened
the door. We went inside. The man closed the door and jumped up
onto the driver’s seat of the cab. The horse moved off quickly.

We passed through so many streets that [ was very soon lost. |
had no idea where we were going. | was feeling nervous and Miss
Morstan’s face looked white. Sherlock Holmes was calm. Our
strange driver did not turn round or speak to us. The only sound
was the noise of the horse’s hooves.

At last we stopped. We were outside a house in a dark quiet

13



. The Death of Major Sholto

street. It had only one small light in the kitchen window. There
were no lights in any of the other houses in the street.

We knocked at the door. It was opened immediately by an
Indian servant. The Indian was wearing a bright yellow turban
on his head. He had white clothes and a yellow belt. It was very
strange to see such brightly coloured clothes in this quiet street in
London.

*My master is waiting for you,’ said the servant.

As he spoke, we heard a man’s voice. It came from one of the
rooms inside the house.

‘Bring them in to me,’ the voice called. ‘Bring them straight in
to me.’

4
The Death of Major Sholto

e followed the Indian servantinto the house. He stopped in
front of an open doot,

‘Come 1n, come in,’ said the voice.

We entered — Holmes, Miss Morstan and myself — and were
astonished!. The room in which we were standing was full of
Indian paintings and ornaments. The carpet was soft and very
thick. There were two large tiger-skins on the walls.

In the centre of the room stood a strange little man with a bald
head. He was smiling, but he seemed very nervous.

‘My name,’ said the bald-headed man, ‘is Thaddeus Sholto.
You are Miss Morstan, of course. And these two gentlemen . . .!”
“This is Mr Sherlock Holmes and this is Doctor Watson.’

‘A doctor!’ cried Thaddeus Sholto exciredly. ‘Oh, please
could you listen to my heart? | am very worried about my heart.’

[ listened to his heart beating. But I could hear nothing wrong

i4
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" said the bald-headed man, ‘s Thaddeus Sholto.”



The Death of Major Sholto
——

w:rlz . ‘There is nothing wrong with your heart," I told him,
I'm so glad," said Thaddeus Sholto. ‘Miss Morstan your

father had a very weak heart. If his hearr had been strong'er he

would have been alive today.’ ’

Miss Morstan sar down and her face turne

d very white

! )

I knew thatr he was dead,” she said. There were tears in
her eyes,

I was very angry with Thaddeus Shol
mucll';]he had upset Miss Morstan.

‘Please tell us why we have been brought here,’ said Miss
[P:/s[z::,giir,l- So Thaddeus Sholto began his strange story and we

‘My father,’ Sholto said, ‘was Ma
Army. He retired from the arm
He bought a house in North Lo
Pondicherry Lodge. My brother
his only children. We knew th
Morstan’s father — and our fathe
in India. When we heard that

to. He did not notice how

jor Sholto of the Indian
y about eleven years ago,
ndon. He called the house
» Bartholomew, and | were
at Captain Morstan — Miss
r had been very good friends
Captain Morstan had disap-
, Bartholomew, and

a wooden leg who followed him. He see
this man.’

‘Did he rell you why he was afraid?’ asked Hol

‘ ell you ; mes.
Withl;]l?s, Sf;g rc;l.dn t," Thaddeus Sholto replied. Then he continued

‘One dayin 1882, our father received a letrer f i i

‘ , rom India. Th
letter upser him very much. He became il]. Every day the gre\:sr
geaker. Atlast, he was dying. He asked to see me and my brother
artholomew. We went to his room. He told us to lock the,

door and come over to the bed. Then he held our hands and
spoke to us. He said thas he wanted to tell us the truth abour
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Caprain Morstan’s death. He was the only person who knew this
terrible secret.

‘When Father was in India with Captain Morstan, they found
a great treasure. It was called the Grear Agra Treasure. The
jewels in this treasure were worth more than a million pounds.
Father brought the Agra Treasure back to England. Morstan
followed him and came at once to the house to ask for his
share'”. But the treasure had made Father greedy. He did
not want ro give any of it to Morstan. He wanted to keep
it all for himself. Morstan became very angry. They had a
terrible argument. Father knew that Morstan’s heart was weak.
Suddenly, the colour of Morstan’s face changed. Father saw at
once that Morstan was dead. He did not know what to do.
He had not killed Morstan, But he was afraid that people
would believe that he had killed Morstan. He decided to say
nothing. He hid the body and he also hid the Great Agra
Treasure.,

‘Soon the news of Morstan's disappearance spread through
London. Only our father knew the terrible truth. He told
us as he was dying that he had been a wicked and greedy
man. He said that he had acted very wrongly. But thar he
had paid for his crime. The Agra Treasure never brought
him happiness — only fear and guilc®. Then he rtold us
that Captain Morstan had a daughter called Mary. He asked
us to listen carefully. Then he began to tell us where he
had hidden the treasure. At that moment a terrible change
came over our father’s face. He pointed at the window and
cried out in a voice full of fear, “Keep him out! Keep him
out!”

‘My brother and [ stared at the window. We saw a horrid face
looking in through the window. It was wild and had a black beard
and cruel eyes. We rushed to the window but the man had gone.
When we went back to the bed, Father was dead.’

“What did you do then?' asked Holmes.

17
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. wierin t())ut 1nt<f) the garden,’ replied Sholto, “We looked
¥ » but we found nothing. In the MOTNINg, we went to

gﬁiifathﬁr s roli)m. We found that someone had been n the room
ng the night. There was a piece of paper on the bed beside my

father's body. A '
y v nd on this paper some words were written, These
words were “The Sign of Four” .’
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The Great Agra Treasure

olmes, Miss Morstan and I looked at each other in surprise.
My body felt cold with fear.

‘The same words — “The Sign of Four” — were written on that
strange note in Captain Morstan’s luggage,” said Holmes.

‘What can 1t mean?!’ 1 whispered.

Miss Morstan turned to Thaddeus Sholro.

“Why did you send me the pearls?’ she asked.

‘On the table, beside our father’s bed, was a gold cup,’ Sholto
answered. ‘It was decorated with six pearls. Our father had told us
that this cup was part of the Agra Treasure. He had wanted us to
share the treasure with you. So we found your address and sent you
the pearls, one by one.’

“That was very kind of you, Mr Sholto,’ said Miss Morstan.

‘Not art all,’ said Sholto. ‘But now | am going to tell you
something very exciting. Yesterday my brother and | found the
Great Agra Treasure!’

“You found the treasure!” we repeated in astonishment.

“Yes. Qur father had died before he told us where it was
hidden. My brother, Bartholomew, and I searched for the treasure
for six years. Yesterday, we found 1t. That is why we sent you the
letter, Miss Morstan. We have found the treasure. But half of it
belongs to you.’

“Where is the treasure now!” asked Holmes.

‘At my father’s house, Pondicherry Lodge,” replied Sholro.
‘My brother, Bartholomew, lives there now. We must go there
immediately so that Miss Morstan can see the treasure and claim
her share. Bartholomew is expecting us. Miss Morstan, tonight
you will be a rich woman!’

Miss Morstan was going to be very rich. I should have been

19



The Great Agra Treasure -

very happy. But I did not feel happy at all. I had fallen in love with
Miss Morstan, But [ did nor have very much money. If she became
rich, I could not ask her to marry me.

Thaddeus Sholto put on his coat. ‘Come,’ he said. ‘I have a
cab waiting outside. It will rake us to Pondicherry Lodge. We must
not be lare.’

It was a long drive to Pondicherry Lodge. The night was
cold, and the moon was shining brightly, As we sat in the cab,
Thaddeus Sholto continued to talk. Holmes, Miss Morstan and 1
listened.

‘My brother, Bartholomew, is a very clever man,’ he said.
‘He knew that the treasure was somewhere in the house. He
had an idea. He measured the height of the house outside.
It was seventy-four feet high. Then he measured the height
of the rooms inside the house. He added the heights of the
rooms together. The toral was only seventy feet. There was
extra space under the roof! My brother made a hole in the
ceiling of the room on the top floor. He found a secret room.
Inside this little room, the treasure chest'* was standing. Last
night, I helped Bartholomew to lower the chest down into the
room below. We opened the chest with a key which we found
beside it.' '

Thaddeus Sholto’s voice became excited.

‘Inside the treasure chest were hundreds of beautiful jewels
~ diamonds, rubies, sapphires and many others. They shone
so brighely that they hurt our eyes. Miss Morstan, the Agra
Treasure is really wonderful. But here is Pondicherry Lodge.
We have arrived. Soon you will sec the treasure for your-
self.’

It was now nearly eleven o’ clock. Pondicherry Lodge was a big
house with a high wall around i-. Everything was black and silent.
There was no light except the moonlight.

“This is very strange,’ Thaddeus Sholto said nervously.
‘I don’t understand why there are no lights. My brother,
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. ¥
Bartholomew, is expecting us. But the house is d;\l’k. ' -
We walked up o the house. Suddenly we heard a imoit:se co " E
from inside that great black house. It was the sound of a wom

crying. ' ) i
i > 2 usekeeper,’ saic
“The only woman in the house is the ho per,

Sholto. ‘Something is wrong.’

We hurried to the door and knocked. A tall old woman opened

it. Her face was white with fear. , L
§ ‘gh Mr Thaddeus, 'm glad you have come,’ she szu(:]. }'m
very friéhtened. Come into the house, Mr Thaddeus. Oh, I'm
glad that you are here. Something terrible has happened to your

brother!’
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A Terrible Murder

haddeus Sholto began to shake with fear. His face was ver
white, ’

‘What do you mean?’ he asked the | k ‘ '
matter wih s b ¢ housekeeper. ‘What is the
) He locked himself in his room. He was there all day. When I
'l?ocked on ‘the door he would not answer me,’ she said. ‘I knew
t lat something must be wrong. A short time ago, [ went upstairs.
lb ookl:ec} t?touth tl]]‘il keyhole of the door of his room. I saw your
rother’s tace, Mr Thaddeus. It looks tertible. Y
Thaddeus and see for yourself.’ umustgoup Mr
'l;’he housekeeper started to cry again.
“You must all go upstairs,’ said Miss Morscan. ‘Tl st
and look after this poor woman.’ orsean. Tl say here
y We lt[eft' thci_ltv»io wometl*: — Miss Morstan and the housekeeper
- downstairs. Holmes took the lamp and led the w: :
Sholto and 1 followed him. P ey Thaddeus
We climbed up the stairs. There w
_ . as & passage at the top of
the stairs. At the end of the passage was a d :
e the end passage was a door. Thaddeus Sholto
That’s the door of my brother’s room,” he whispered,
\l)(/ekhl(njrrjl?g for}']wal;ds. Holmes turned the handle but the door
was locked. Then he bent down and looked through the k
He stood up again quickly. ugh the keshole
Il\gly Gé)dl’ he (:jried. ‘It’s the work of the Devil!’
ent down and put my eye to the keyhole. I fele very si
| ' : . y sick and
alfrald. The bright moonlight was shining into the room. I coul:i
clearly see a face. This face was looking straight at me. It did not
move. ']I-h.ere was a hotrible smile on the face.
This is terrible,’ T said to Holmes. “What shall we do?’
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“We must break down the door,’ he replied.

We threw ourselves at the door and it broke with a sudden
crack. We were inside Bartholomew Sholto’s room.

Bartholomew Sholto was dead. He was sitting in a chair by a
table. His body was stiff and cold. T could see that he had been
dead for many hours. The dead man’s body was twisted with pain.
There was a horrible smile on his face.

There was a piece of paper on the body. Holmes picked it up
and read it.

‘Look,” he said.

In the light of the lamp, I read with horror — “The Sign of
Four”.

“What does it mean?’ | asked.

‘It means murder, Holmes replied. He pointed to
Bartholomew Sholto's ear. ‘Look.’

I looked. 1 saw something sticking in the dead man’s skin near
his ear.

‘It looks like a thorn'?," I said.

‘Itisa thorn,” said Holmes. ‘You can take itout. Butbe careful.
It is poisoned'®.’

1 took the thorn between my finger and thumb. | pulled itaway
easily from the dead man’s skin. | looked at it. It was hard and
sharp. 1 saw that it had poison on it.

‘So this is how Bartholomew Sholro died,’ 1 said. ‘What a
terrible death. But who killed him? And why?’

We had forgotten about Thaddeus Sholto. He was still
standing in the doorway. Suddenly he gave a cry. .

“The treasure has gone!’ he cried. ‘They have stolen the
treasure. Look. Do you see that hole in the ceiling? We lowered
the treasure down through that hole last night. Afeer 1 had helped
my brother with the treasure, I left him here in this room. [ was the
last person to see my brother alive. I heard him lock the door as |
came downstairs.’

“What time was that?’ asked Holmes.
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The dead man’s body was tunsted with pam.

The Tiny Footprints

‘It was ten o’clock. And now my brother, Bartholomew, is
dead and the Great Agra Treasure has gone!’

1
The Tiny Footprints

‘G o to the police station, Mr Sholto,’ said Holmes. ‘Ask the
police to come quickly. Doctor Watson and I will wait here.’

Thaddeus Sholto turned away. We heard him going
downstairs.

‘Now, Watson,” said Holmes. ‘We have some work to do
before the police arrive. We must find out how the murderer got
into the room. The door was locked. But what about the window?”

He carried the lamp to the window and examined the window-
sill'? carefully.

‘Look,” he said. ‘Someone has come in by the window. Here 1s
the print of a foot on the window-sill. And here is a round mark.
And look on the floor — here is another footprint and another
mark. And again by the table. See, here, Watson.’

I looked at the marks. Some were footprints, but some were in
the Shape of small circies.

‘Those are not footprints,’ I said.

‘No,’ replied Holmes. “They are the marks made by someone
with a wooden leg.’

‘Someone with a wooden leg!?’ [ said. ‘Holmes! Thaddeus
Sholto told us that his father was afraid of a man with a
wooden leg.’

‘Yes," said Holmes. ‘But the wooden-legged man was not
alone. Someone else has been here too. Look outside.' We both
went to the window and looked down. ‘We are very high up,’
said Holmes. ‘A man with a wooden leg would not be able to

25



The Tiny Footprinis

climb here by himself. Two people came into this room. We will
call them Number One and Number Two. Number Two is the
wooden-legged man. But who is Number One? And how did he
getin!’

ooked round the room. I thought quickly. Then suddenly |
knew the answer,

In the ceiling of the room was a hole. Thaddeus Sholto had
told us thathis brother had made this hole. The Agra Treasure had
been hidden in the secret room above. The two Sholto brothers
had lowered the treasure chest through this hole the night before.

A set of steps'® was standing beneath the hole. On the floor by
the set of steps was a rope.

‘Number One must have looked through the hole in the
ceiling,” I said. ‘He saw Bartholomew Sholto sitting on the chair
below him. He killed Sholto with a poisoned thotn. Then he
must have taken the rope, opened the window and thrown the
end of the rope down into the garden. His friend, Number Two,
the wooden-legged man, must have been waiting below, Number
Two climbed up the rope with the help of Number One. The
murderers then lowered the treasure chest to the ground with the
rope. Number Two climbed down the rope. Number One got out
of the room through the hole in the ceiling.’

‘Excellent, Watson,” said Holmes. ‘We shall now go up and
have a look at the secret room. Perhaps we can find out more
information about Number One.’

We climbed the steps and found ourselves in a small dark room
without any windows. There was thick dust on the floor. It was
here that the treasure had been hidden for so many years,

‘Look,’ said Holmes. ‘There is a small door in the roof. That is
how Number One got in.’

Then Holmes shone the lamp down at the floor. By the light of
the lamp, T saw that the floor was covered with many footprints.
They showed very clearly in the thick dust. They were the prints of
bare feet.

The Tiny Footprints

Burt they were not the footprints of an ordinary man. They

were extremely small. Suddenly, a horrible thought came into
my nund.

‘Holmes!' 1 whispered. 'A child has done this terrible thing.’
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Holimes did not answer. He was still studying the tiny foot-
prints. Finally he spoke. ‘No,’ he said slowly. ‘Tdon’t thinkit wasa
child. Look at this footprint. Look at the marks of the toes. They
are very wide apart. Itis not a child’s footprint. Itisa man’s. They
are the prints of a tiny man.’

‘Do you mean a dwarf*??’ I asked in surprise.

‘T will show you,” replied Holmes. ‘Let’s go into the room
again. Let’s examine once more the poisoned thorn which killed
Bartholomew Sholto.’

In the room below, I picked up the thorn. I held it carefully
berween my fingers. | fele afraid. It was long and sharp.

27



Inspector Jones Makes an Arrest

‘Now then,” said Holmes. ‘Whac do you think about this
thorn? Is it an English thorn?’

‘No,” I said. ‘It cerrainly is not.’

“Yousee,’ said Holmes, ‘already we begin to know many things
about murderer Number One.

‘He is a very small man — in other words, a pyegmy*° — from
some foreign land. He is very strong and can climb great heights
easily. He is also extremely dangerous. He kills people by shooting
them with poisoned thorns.’

8

Inspector Jones Makes an Arrest

locked at Holmes in astonishment.

‘How strange!” | said. “Why are a pygmy and a wooden-
legged man working together? Who are these people, Holmes?
And why did they kill Bartholomew Sholto?"

“They wanted the treasure, of course,” answered Holmes. ‘Last
night, Bartholomew Sholto was sicting in this room wich the
treasure. The pygmy came in through the roof and saw him. The
only way to get the treasure was to kill Sholto.’

‘And what about the paper with the Sign of Four?’ [ asked.

‘It must mean revenge®!,' Holmes answered. ‘Remember that
a paper from the Sign of Four was also found on the dead body
of Major Sholto. I don't know why someone wants revenge on
the Sholto family. But we know that someone wanced revenge.
They also wanted the treasure. And they were prepared to kill the
Sholtos — father and son — to get the treasure.’

Holmes took out his magnifying glass and started to examine
the room again. There were some bottles and tubes in one corner
of the room. Bartholomew Sholto must have been interested in
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chemistry. A glass tube had broken and a dark liquid had spilt
onto the floor. Holmes gave a loud cry of joy.

‘Come here, Wartson,’ he said. ‘“What can you smell?’

| walked over. Suddenly I smelt something very strong and
unpleasant. The smell was coming from the dark liquid on
the floor. ‘It smells like rar,’ [ said.

DTS

T

‘Tris similar to tar,” Holmes answered. ‘It is creosote??.’ He was
smuiling and rubbing his hands together.

‘Why are you so pleased?’ [ asked.

Holmes pointed to the floor. 1 saw a clearly marked small
footprint. 1 realised that the pygmy had stepped in the creosote.

‘T know a dog which loves rhe smell of creosote. It will follow
this smell-for miles and miles,’ said Holmes. ‘We’ll catch these
murderers now.’

Just then we heard footsteps and loud voices outside the room.
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‘It’s the police,” said Holmes.

Ashe spoke, a fat man in a grey suit entered the room. His face
was red and his eyes were small and bright. He was followed by a
policeman in uniform and by Thaddeus Sholro. 1 had never seen
the fat man before, but Holmes seemed to know him well.

‘Good evening, Inspector Jones,’ said Holmes politely. ‘Don’t
you remember me?’

The fat man stopped and stared. He was not very pleased to see
Holmes.

“Why, yes, of course,’ he said. ‘You are Mr Sherlock Holmes,
the private detective. Yes, I remember you well. This is an
interesting crime, Mr Holmes. A man has been murdered and

jewels worth a million pounds are missing. Whar do you think
happened?’

‘Well . . .” began Holmes.

But Inspector Jones did not want to listen to my friend. He
thought his own ideas were betrer.

‘Listen, Mr Holmes, I will tell you what | think," he said
importantly. “This man, Thaddeus Sholro, tells me that he was
with his brother last night. They discovered the treasure together.
He was the last person to see his brother alive. Now, I think that
Thaddeus Sholto killed his brother. Then he ran off with the
jewels.’

‘Oh no, it isn't true!’ cried Thaddeus Sholro,

‘What about the poisoned thorn in the dead man’s skin?’
asked Holmes. ‘And the paper with the Sign of Four?’

“The thorn belongs to Thaddeus Sholto,’ replied Jones
quickly. ‘T don’t think the paper is very important. Perhaps it’s
a trick. But wait a moment. What's that up there! I see a hole in
the ceiling. T must have a look.’

Inspector Jones went quickly up the steps. We heard him
moving about noisily in the room above. Then he came down
again. He was hot and dusty.

‘Tknow everything now,’ he cried. ‘I have found a door which
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The Dog That Loved Creosote

leads dut onto the roof, That was how Thaddeus Sholto escaped.’

‘But the footprints . . ." began Holmes. . ‘

Inspector Jones was not listening. He had not noticed the tiny
footprints. He turned to Thaddeus Sholto. The poor man was
shaking with fear.

‘Mr Sholto,’ said Jones. ‘] arrest®® you for the murder of your
brother.’ .

‘Tdidn't do it!” Thaddeus cried. ‘Please, Mr Holmes, believe
me!’ ‘

‘Don't worry, Mr Sholto,’ said Holmes. ‘l know that you
didn't kill your brother. [ will find the murfierer.’

Inspector Jones turned to Holmes angrily. .

‘Listen, Mr Holmes,' he said. ‘This is a matter for the police. It
has nothing to do with you. Goodnight, gentlemen.

Inspector Jones and the policeman took Thaddeus Sholto
away. A few muinutes later the house was quiet again.

9
The Dog That Loved Creosote

‘ he police don't want my help, Watson,’ said Holmes, as soon

as the Inspector had gone. ‘Inspector Jones thinks he has
solved the crime and caught the murderer. But they have arrested
the wrong man.’

[ agreed with Holmes. [ was sure that Thaddeus Sholto was not
the murderer.

“We must be quick, Watson,’ said Holmes. ‘I want you to dp
two things. First, take Miss Morstan home. Second, go to this
address — 3 Pinchin Lane. Ask for Mr Sherman. He has an old
dog called Toby. | want you to bring Toby here. Meet me here in
two hours’ time.’

I took Miss Morstan home in Thaddeus Sholto’s cab. She was
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very upset by what had happened and spoke very little. | pronused
that I would visit her the next day. Then I went to the address
which Holmes had given me.

It was the middle of the night, and the streets of London
were black and silent. As the cab went along, 1 thought about
everything that had happened.

We had discovered the truth about some things — the death of
Captain Morstan, the sending of the pearls to Miss Morstan, the
advernisement, the letter. All these things were clear.

Now there were other mysteries which we had to solve, Where
was the Indian treasure? What was the plan found in Morstan's
luggage! Who wanted Bartholomew Sholto to die? Where were
the pygmy and the wooden-legged man?

What did all these things mean? And what was the mysterious
Sign of Four? | hoped that Sherlock Holmes would discover the
answer to these questions.

Soon [ arrived in Pinchin Lane — the address where Holmes
had sent me. It was a very poor street and the houses were old and
dirty. I found house number three and knocked on the door,

After some time, a face looked out from a window above. [t was
not a friendly face.

‘“Who are you?’ said rhe face angrily. “What do you want?’

‘Come down and open the door,’ | said. ‘[ have something to
ask you.’

‘Go away at once,’ said the face. ‘If you don’t, I'll let out fifcy
dogs upon you.’

‘My friend, Mr Sherlock Holmes . . ." [ began.

At these words, the window suddenly shut and a few minutes
later the door opened. I saw an old man with grey hair and abeard,
holding a candle in his hand.

‘Come in, sir,” he said. ‘I'm Mr Sherman. ['m sorry that [ was
rude. I didn’t know that you were a friend of Sherlock Holmes.”’

I went into the small dirty house and stopped in astonishment.
There were cages everywhere I looked. All the cages contained
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different kinds of animals. [ could see their eyes shining in the
candlelight.

“What does Mr Holmes want?’ asked the old man.

‘A dog called Toby,” I answered.

‘Toby is my best dog,’ said Mr Sherman. ‘He loves to
follow strong smells. Especially the smell of creosote. That's
his favourite.’

‘That’s why Mr Holmes wants him,’ ] said.

‘Wait here. I'll go and get him.’

The old man came back after a few minutes. He was pulling a
dog on alead**. The dog looked very strange. It had very long ears
and very short legs and its eyes were large and sad.

“This is Toby,” said Mr Sherman. ‘He’ll go with you. He’s a
friendly dog.’

The dog licked my hand and wagged its tail. I put some money
mnto Mr Sherman’s hand and the old man gave me Toby's lead.

When 1 got back to Pondicherry Lodge, 1 found Sherlock
Holmes standing outside the door. He was smoking his pipe.

‘Excellent, Watson!’ he cried when he saw me. ‘You have
done well. Good dog, Toby! Come here! Good dog!’

Holmes took a handkerchief out of his pocket and gave it to
Toby to smell. The handkerchief was covered with creosote. The
dog went mad with excitement. His sad eyes shone with happiness
and his tail wagged.

‘See how he loves the smell,’ said Holmes. ‘“We won'thave any
problems now.’

Holmes pointed at a drain-pipe®* which went down from the
roof of the house.

‘While you were away, Watson,' he said, ‘[ went up onto the
roof and discovered how the pygmy climbed up and climbed down
again. He used that drain-pipe.’

The drain-pipe ran all the way down from the roof to the
garden below. There was a large barrel full of water under the end
of the drain-pipe.
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‘He climbed down that drain-pipe and onto the barrel
beneath,” said Holmes. ‘It was very easy to follow his trail. He
left marks everywhere. He also dropped this.’

Holmes put his hand in his pocket and took out a small bag
made of dried grass. I looked inside. To my horror, | saw five or
six tong dark thorns. They were the same as the one which killed
Bartholomew Sholto.
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“The murderer has lost these,” said Holmes. ‘Let’s hope that
he doesn't have any more. Don't touch them, Watson. They are
powsoned. But come. Where's Toby? We must begin.’

Holmes ook Toby's lead and pulled the dog to the bottom
of the water barrel. Toby smelled all round carefully. Sud-
denly, he began to bark excitedly. He had found his favourite
smell — the smell of creosote. Then he started to pull at
his lead. ‘He's on the trail!’ cried Holmes. ‘Let’s go!’
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T oby pulled at his lead and ran quickly through the grass. He
ran so quickly rthat it was difficult to follow him.

The sky was beginning to get light now. Toby ran along the
paths in the garden under the trees and bushes. Then he reached
the garden wall and ran along beside it. Finally, he stopped at a
place in the wall where the bricks were loose.

‘Thisis the place where they got into the garden,’ said Holmes.
‘It is easy to climb up and down here. Look. Do you see this mark?
It is the print of a man’s hand.’

He pointed at a flat stone. I saw a dirty hand printon the stone.
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Holmes picked up the dog and climbed over the wali. 1 followed.
Toby soon found the trail again.

Toby did not look to rhe right or the lefc. He ran straight
ahead with his nose to the ground. He loved the smell of creosote.
Nothing could stop him from following it,

As we hurried along, 1 thought about the wooden-legged
man and the pygmy. I wondered whar would happen when we
found them. I knew that they were dangerous. I wished that |
had brought my gun with me,

Toby was still following the trail. Now we were passing
through small narrow streets. The people were just beginning to
wake up. The men were going on their way to work. The women
were opening the windows and cleaning their houses.

Suddenly, Toby ran down a path. This path led straight down
towards the River Thames. Soon the river appeared in front of us.
Taoby ran faster and faster.

The path went down to the water’s edge. It ended at a small
wooden jerty*®, Toby stopped. He ran backwards and forwards
trying to find the smell. He looked up at us sadly with hislarge eyes.
He did not know what o do.

“They have got into a boat here,’ said Holmes.

There was a small house beside rhe jetty. A notice was hanging
from one of the windows. On it was written in large letters:

MORDECAI SMITH: Boats and steam launch for hire?’.

There was no one on the jetty. Several small boats were near
the jetty on the bank of the river. Holmes looked at these boats.

‘I wonder where the steam launch is,’ he said. ‘I think we must
ask a few questions.’

He knocked loudly at the door of the house. A large woman
with ared face opened it. A child was crying somewhere inside the

house. I saw that the woman was very upset about something. She
had been crying.
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‘Good morning,’ said Holmes politely. ‘Are you Mordecal
Smith’s wife?’

‘Yes,’ replied the woman. ‘What do you want?’

‘Could I speak to your husband, please?’ asked Holmes.

‘No, you can’t. He isn’t here. 1 haven't seen him since
yesterday morning.’

‘Oh,’ said Holmes, ‘I wanted to hire a boat.’

‘Well, perhaps I can help you,’ said Mrs Smuth. ‘Which boat
do you want?'

‘I wanted to hire the steam launch. T have heard 1t is a very
good boat. Let me see. What's the name? The . . .

“The Aurora, sir,” said Mrs Smith.

‘Oh, yes, that's right. 1 remember now. But where is the
Auroral’ said Holmes, looking around. ‘1 don’t see a steam launch
anywhere.’

‘Oh, sir. My husband has gone in the Aurora,” Mrs Smith
replied and burst into tears. ‘I'm very worried about him. [ don’t
trust that wooden-legged man.’

‘What wooden-legged man, Mrs Smith?’ isked Holmes in a
surprised voice.

‘I don’t know who he is, sir. But my husband went with a

wooden-legged man in the Aurora yesterday morning and hasn’t
come back!’
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Mystery on the River

"m very sorry to hear that, Mrs Smith,’ said Holmes. ‘Tell me,
was this wooden-legged man alone?”

‘Idon’t know, sir. 1 didn't see anyone else. But it was very dark
— it was three o’clock in the morning. 1 could not be sure.’

‘What does the Aurora look like?’ asked Holmes.

‘The Aurora is black, sir, with two red stripes down each side.
It has a black funnel®® with a white stripe. The Aurora s the fastest
boat on the river." answered Mrs Smith.

Holmes looked worried.

“That's very interesting,” he said. ‘Try not to worry about your
husband, Mrs Smith. [ am going up the river myself. If | see Mr
Smith, I will tell him that I have seen you. Goodbye.’

*Goodbye and thank you,’ said Mordecai Smith's wife. She
had stopped crying. She went inside her house and closed
the door.

‘“Watson, we must find Mordecai Smith and the Aurora
as soon as possible,” said Holmes. ‘Mordecai Smith and the
wooden-legged man are working together. Smich has taken the
two murderers in his steam launch. They are all hiding somewhere
on the river.’

‘It will be easy to find them,’ I said. *You must tell the police at
once.’

Holmes shook his head.

‘No. I don't want these criminals to know thar anyone is
looking for them. They will try to escape again.

‘I have a better idea,” Holmes went on. ‘I have many agents
everywhere up and down the river. These agents are clever, [
pay them to bring me information. They always know what is
happening on the river. [ wilt ask my agents to look for Mordecai

40

Mystery on the River

Smuth and the Anrora. But you look tired, Watson. Let’s go home
and have breakfast.’

[t was now nearly eight o’clock in the morning. [ did feel very
tired. | was glad to go home to Baker Street.

When 1 had had a bath and changed my clothes, 1 came
downstairs to breakfast. Holmes was drinking coffee and reading
a newspaper. ‘Look, Watson,' he said. ‘Here is a report about the
murder of Bartholomew Sholto at Pondicherry Lodge. And about
the arrest of Thaddeus Sholto by Inspector Jones last night.’

[ took the paper and read the report. I felt sorry for Thaddeus
Sholto. Inspector Jones had made a stupid mistake by arresting
him. | knew that Sholto was not guilty of the murder of his brocher.
I hoped that we would be able to help Thaddeus. But would we be
able to find the murderers?

Suddenly there was a loud knock on the door. A few minures
later, twelve children ran into the room.




Inspector Jones Receives a Telegram

Their clothes were dirty and ragged. They had no shoes on
their feet. Their hair was untidy and their faces had not been
washed for a very long time. But they seemed happy and cheerful,

‘Good morning, Mr Holmes," said the children together.

‘“Who are these children, Holmes?' | asked in astonishment.

Holmes laughed.

‘These are my agents,” he said. ‘I sent a message for them o
come. Look at them. They can go anywhere, see everything, hear
everything. Nobody is afraid of children.’

Holmes gave each of the children some money. Then he told
them what he wanted them to do.

*You must find a steam launch called the Aurora,” he said.

‘It is on the river somewhere and belongs to Mordecai Smith.
The Aurora is black with two red stripes down each side. It hasa
black funnel with a white stripe. You must find it. Now goV’

The children ran out of the room, all talking together. They
went down the stairs and out into the street.

‘My agents will find Mordecai Smith and the Aurora,” said
Holmes. ‘Now we must wait,’
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\ x J e had not slept all night and I was very tired. | went to bed

and woke late in the afternoon. I felt much better. | went
downstairs. Holmes was reading a book. | saw at once that he was
worried.

‘Is there any news!’ [ asked.
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‘Nothing at all. T can’t understand it, | am very surprised and
disappointed. My agents say that they cannot find the Aurora.’

‘Can 1 do anything to help?’ | asked.

‘Nothing.'

“Then I'll take Toby back to Pinchin Lane. Then I'li go and see
Miss Morstan and tell her what has happened.’

I went to Miss Morstan’s house. She looked very pleased to see
me. [ told her that we had not found the treasure yet. But she did
notlook disappointed. I was surprised about this but I was also very
pleased. I said goodbye to her and drove back to Baker Street.

| went to bed, but I could not sleep.  was thinking about Miss
Morstan. 1 wanted to ask her to marry me. All night, I heard
Holmes walking up and down in his room. Next morning, he
looked tired and ill.

‘My agents cannot find the Aurora,’ he said impatiently. They
have searched the whole river. The Aurora has disappeared.’

We waited all that day, but there was no news.

The next day, [ woke early. It was still dark. To my surprise
Sherlock Holmes was standing by my bed. He was dressed and
ready to go out.

‘[ have had an idea, Watson,” he said. ‘I am going up the river
myself, Perhaps I can find the launch. You must stay here. There
may be some messages.” Holmes left without another word.

That day, the time passed very slowly. 1 picked up a book
but was unable to read it. I was thinking all the time about the
wooden-legged man and the pygmy. Where were they? Why could
Holmes not find them? [ was worried about my friend. [ knew that
he was a clever detective. Bur perhaps this time he would not be
able to catch the murderers.

At three o'clock in the afternoon, I had a visitor. It was
Inspector Jones, the police officer.

| was astonished. Inspector Jones had changed completely.
Two days ago, he had been very rude to Holmes. He had not
wanted his help. Now he was very quiet and polite.
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‘Good afternoon, Doctor Watson,' said Inspector Jones. ‘I'm
afraid that I made a bad mistake. [ have had to let Thaddeus Sholto
go. Sholto has proved that he was at a friend’s house when his
brother died.’

Inspector Jones looked so sad that I began to feel sorry for him.

‘I've received a telegram from Sherlock Holmes,’ the Inspec-
tor went on. ‘Here it is.’

[ took the telegram and read it.

INSPECTOR JONES — GO TO BAKER STREET AT ONCE.
WAIT FOR ME THERE. I KNOW WHERE SHOLTO'S
MURDERERS ARE HIDING. COME WITH US TONIGHT
IF YOU WANT TO CATCH THEM.

HOLMES
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‘That’s excellent!’ 1 cried. ‘Forget about Thaddeus Sholrto.
You'll soon have some other prisoners, Inspector Jones.'

At that moment, the door opened and Holmes came into the
room. He was smiling.

‘“What news!’ we asked together.

‘Tknow where the Aurorais,” Holmes replied. ‘lt wasn’ton the
river at all. The Aurora has been hidden in a boatyard® near the
river for two days. | knew the launch at once. Mordecai Smith,
the owner, was there too. He was ralking to someone and he was
speaking very loudly. He said that he had to have the Aurora
ready for eight o'clock tonight. His two gentlemen were leaving
for America. Their ship was waiting for them out at sea and they
must not be late.

‘I knew immediately what they were planning to do,’ went on
Holmes. ‘And | know what we must do. Inspector Jones, will you
help me?’

. ‘I was wrong before and you were right,’ said Jones sadly. ‘1
didn’r listen to you then. But 'll help you now.’

*Good,’ said Holmes. ‘“We need a fast police launch — as fast as
the Aurora. It must be ready this evening. And two or three strong
policemen tc come with us.’

‘T'll arrange all this,’ said Jones.

‘Excellent,’ said Holmes. ‘Tonight the three of us — you and
me and Doctor Watson — will be on the police launch. We will be
waiting outside the boatyard at eight o’clock. We'll be ready for
the Awrora when she comes out. We'll catch the murderers and
we'll get the treasure!”’
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The Chase on the River

t seven o'clock that evening, the three of us — Inspector
Jones, Holmes and I — went down to the river. Both Holmes
and [ had guns in our pockets.

Inspector Jones had promised to let us use the police launch.
This launch was now waiting. Four strong men were on hoard the
launch.

Soon we were moving quickly down the River Thames.
The police launch was very fast. We passed all the other
boats on the river without difficulty. This pleased Holmes
very much.

By eight o’clock, we had arrived opposite the hoaryard where
the Aurora was hidden. It was now dark. We waited. Ten minures
passed.

Suddenly a launch came out of the boatyard. It was black with
two red stripes. It was moving very quickly.

‘That’s the Aurora!’ cried Holmes. ‘Follow it quickly! Faster,
taster! We must catch them!’

We were going so fast that the police launch started ro shake.
But we could not get near to the Aurora.

The chase became more and more exciting. We went in and
out between other boats. Many times [ closed my eyes. | was sure
that we would hit something.

At last we got closer to the Aurora. Inspector Jones turned on a
light and shone it on the Auwrora.

‘Stop!” he cried. ‘Stop. We are the police!”’

In the lamplight we could see some men on board the Awrora,
One man was sitting at the back of the launch. Beside him was a
strange dark shape.

We could also see Mordecai Smith, the owner of the Auwrora.
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He was working as hard as he could. He was trying to make the
engine of the launch go faster.

Inspector Jones shouted again. ‘Stop!’

Suddenly, the man at the back of the Aurora stood up. He
shouted at us angrily. He was a big strong man. Then I noticed
that his right leg was missing. There was a wooden stump in irs
place. This was the wooden-legged man!

At the sound of the man's voice, the strange dark shape beside
him moved. It was a small dark man — the smallest man I have ever
seen. But the pygmy’s head was large. His face was hard and cruel.

As soon as Holmes saw the pygmy, he took out his gun. 1 did
the same.

‘Shoot him if he moves his hand,’ said Holmes.

At that moment, the pygmy put a short piece of wood to
his lips.

We fired our guns together. The pygmy fell backwards into the
water with a terrible cry.

The wooden-legged man turned the Aurora towards the bank
of the river. As soon as the Aurora touched the bank of the river,
he jumped out. It happened so quickly that we were not able to
slow down and stop the police launch. The man had landed in the
soft, wet mud of the river bank. But his wooden leg had stuck in the
mud. He could not move.

We managed to turn the police launch round. We went
towards the wooden-legged man and threw him a rope. Then we
pulled him up over the side of our launch.

Mordecai Smith was still on the Aurora. But he did not try to
escape, We tied the Aurora to our launch. The chase was over.

On the deck of the Aurora there was a big, heavy chest. We
were sure that it contained the Agra Treasure. We carried che
heavy box onto the police launch.

Suddenly Holmes stopped and pointed.

‘Look,’ he said.

[ looked where Holmes was pointing. | saw one of the pygmy's
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poisoned thorns. It was fixed in the wood where Holmes and 1
had been standing. The poisoned thorn had passed through the
air between us.

Holmes was smiling, but I felt cold and sick. We had escaped a
horrible death.

As we went back up the river, we shone our light on the water.
We were looking for the body of the pygmy. But we saw nothing.
His body still lies somewhere at the bottom of the River Thames.
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™Y he wooden-legged man was our prisoner. He was sitting in

1 the police launch opposite the treasure chest.
He was about fifty years old. He had black, curly hair and

a black beard. He did not look angry any more. He was not
interested in anything.

‘What's your name?’ Holmes asked him.

‘Jonathan Small,’ replied the man.

‘Jonathan Small,’ repeated Holmes. He took out the piece of
paper which had been found in Captain Morstan’s luggage.

Holmes read out what was written on the piece of paper,
‘“Jlonathan Small, Mahomet Singh, Abdullah Khan, Dost Akbar.
The Sign of Four™.’

‘Give me that paper,’ said the man. Holmes gave it to him,

*Yes,” Small said, ‘| am one of The Sign of Four. This paperisa
plan of the fortress*® at Agra in India. My three friends and I found
the treasure many years ago. Tonight I have lost the Agra Treasure
and you have killed my dear friend, Tonga. | am not sorry about
the deaths of Sholto and his son. I’'m not sorry about anything. Do
what you like with me.’
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“You will tell us your story later,” said Holmes. ‘Bur first,
Watson, would you take the treasure to Miss Morstan?’

‘I shall be pleased to do that,’ 1 said.

Bur [ was not speaking the truth. 1 did not want to rake the
treasure to Miss Morstan. T did not want her to become a rich
woman.

‘Inspector Jones and | will take our prisoner to Baker Street,’
said Holmes. ‘We'll meet you there, Watson.” Then Holmes
turned to Jonathan Small.‘But where is the key of the treasure
chest?’

‘At the bottom of the river,’ replied Jonathan Small.

‘Why did you throw it away?’ cried Inspector Jones angrily.
‘You have made things very difficult for us.’

Jonathan Small did not speak. He did not care what Jones said.

When we got to the jetry, | got out of the launch with the
treasure chest. | found a cab and drove to Miss Morstan’s house.

Miss Morstan was sitting by the window. She was wearing
a pretty, white dress and her hair was shining brighcy in the
lamplight.

‘How nice to see you,” shie said when she saw me. ‘Do you have
any news!’

‘I have brought something better than news,’ I said, trying to
speak happily. ‘I have brought the Agra Treasure.’

[ put the heavy chest down on the table. Miss Morstan did not
look very excited.

‘So, this is the famous Agra Treasure,’ she said.

‘Yes,’ Lreplicd. ‘Half of it belongs to you and half to Thaddeus
Sholto. You are a rich woman now, Miss Morstan.’

‘The treasure can wait,’ she said. ‘First, | want to hear all about
your adventures. Please sit down and tell me everyching.’

So I told her everything that had happened. 1 told her how
Holmes found the Awrora. 1 told her about Inspector Jones and
Thaddeus Sholto. I told her about the chase on the river, the death
of the pygmy and how we had caught Jonathan Small.
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‘How brave you are,’ she said. ‘1 didn’t know that you were in
such terrible danger.’

‘It’s finished now,” I said. ‘Let’s open the treasure chest. There
isn't a key. How can we open the chest?’ '

Miss Morstan left the room and came back with a heavy metal
bar. I took the bar and put it under the lid of the chest.
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Then | turned it and the lid opened. It lifted up the lid. My
hands were shaking. We both looked inside. Then we looked at
each other in astonishment, The chest was empty! The chest was
made of very thick iron. This was why it was so heavy.

‘The treasure is lost,’ said Miss Morstan quietly.

‘Thank God!’ 1 said.

‘“Why do you say “Thank God”?" asked Miss Morstan.

‘Because now | can ask you to marry me,’ [ replied, holding her
hand. ‘Because | love you, Mary. Now you are not going to be rich.
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So I can tell you my feelings. That is why I said “Thank God”.’
‘Then I say “Thank God” too,” she whispered.

i5
The Sign of Four

hen I got back to Baker Street, Holmes, Inspector Jones
and the prisoner, Jonathan Small, were all waiting for me.
I showed them the empty treasure chest. Small began to laugh.

‘Where is the treasure, Small?’ shouted Jones angnily.

‘The Agra Treasure belongs to the Sign of Four,’ said Small
quietly. ‘No one else will have it. | threw it all to the botrom of the
river.

We all stood astonished. The great treasure of Agra was lost
for ever.

‘The Agra Treasure is unlucky,’ said Small. ‘It has never
brought happiness to anyone. It brought death to Captain
Morstan. It brought fear and guilt to Major Sholto. Bartholomew
Sholto was murdered because of it. And to me and the other
members of the Sign of Four, it has brought prison for the rest of
our lives.’

“You must tell us your story,’ said Holmes. ‘“What is the Sign of
Four?’

Jonathan Small began his strange story and we listened.

‘Twent to India as a soldier in the British Army,” said Small.
‘One day, soon aftet | arrived, [ had an accident and lost my leg.
After that, I could not fight any more.

‘Then there was terrible fighting between the Indians and the
British. The British all hid in an old fortress at Agra. They shut
themselves inside. The walls of this fortress were very thick. The
Indians could not get in.

‘lalso went to Agra. [ had three Indian friends who had fought
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for the British. They came to Agra with me. These men were
Mahomet Singh, Abdullah Khan and Dost Akbar. When we
were in the Agra fortress, we heard a strange story. It was about
a great treasure which had been hidden in the fortress. It had
been hidden for many years. The four of us decided to look for
this treasure. And one day we found it. It was hidden under the
floor in a secret room.

“We were astonished by what we had found. We had never
seen so many beautiful jewels. The four of us decided not to say
anything about what we had found. We decided ro leave the
treasure hidden in the secret room in the fortress. When the
fighting was finished, we would be able to rake the treasure away
with us.

“We made a promise to each other. We agreed that we would
always work together. We would share the treasure between us.
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We became the Sign of Four. But a terrible thing happened. Two
British soldiers were killed in a fight. We had not killed them bue
we were arrested for their murder, We were sent to prison in the
Andaman Islands.’

‘Is that where you met Major Sholto and Caprain Morstan?’
asked Holmes.

Yes," said Small. ‘Sholto and Morstan were the officers in
charge of the prisoners there.

‘We were in a terrible situation. We knew where the Agra
Treasure was. But we were not able to go and get it. We were
prisoners. Also, we were afraid that someone else might find
the treasure. We did not know what to do. At last we rold
Sholto and Morstan about the great treasure. We asked them
to help the four of us to escape. When we were free, we would
get the treasure and share it with them. But Sholto sard that he
did not believe us. He said he did not know if we were speaking
the truth. Sholto did not know if the treasure would be there.
He said he would go to India. If he found the treasure, he
would come back. He would help us escape from prison.
Sholto asked the four of us to give him a plan of the fortress
at Agra,

‘We did not want to give Sholto the plan. T didn’t trust him.
But in the end we had to agree. We gave one plan to Sholto
and another to Morstan. Sholto went to India. But he never
came back. He found the treasure and took ir to England.
He stole it from the Sign of Four and also from his friend
Morstan. And from that day, I decided to have revenge on
Sholto.’

Small was silent for a few moments, He was thinking about
what Sholto had done. Then he went on with his story.

‘I made friends with one of the people of the Andaman
[slands,” he said. ‘The people there are pygmies. They are very
small, but they are very brave,

‘One day, I found one of these pygmies lying under a tree. He
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was very ill. [looked after him. He slowly got better. He became my
friend. His name was Tonga.

‘Tonga helped me to escape from the islands. He had a small
boat. One dark night, we put lots of food into the boat and we
sailed rogether from the Andaman Islands.’

Holmes had been listening carefully while Smalt told his story.
Now he spoke, ‘Ah — [ understand,’ he said, ‘Major Shotto
received a letter. What was written in the letter frightened him
to death. Tt must have been the news of your escape which
killed him.’

Small went on with his story. ‘At last Tonga and I reached
London. But I was too late to have revenge on Sholto. Sholto
was dying. He saw my face at the window. That night I got into
his room and left a message. It was from The Sign of Four.

‘Tonga and [ waited six years. We watched Pondicherry Lodge
and Bartholomew Sholto carefully. When Bartholomew Sholio
found the treasure, we knew about it immediately. With Tonga's
help, 1 got into his room. Tonga killed Bartholomew Sholto
with a poisoned thom. We took the treasure, left the paper
E1I‘lkl went,

‘l had paid Mordecai Smith ro take us to a ship. We were
planning to go to America. But now everything has changed.
Tonga is dead and 1 am your prisoner. And the Agra Treasure is
lost for ever.’

We were all silent. We were thinking of the great treasure
which was lost in the mud at the bottom of the River Thames.
Perhaps it was beteer there.

‘Doctor Warson,” said Holmes, when Inspector Jones had
taken Small away, ‘that is the end of our adventure.’

“Yes,” | said. ‘But | have some very good news. Miss Morstan
and [ are going to get married.’

‘Excellent,” said Holmes. ‘The Agra Treasure has at last
brought happiness to someone.’
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Points for Understanding

1

I Why did Doctor Watson return to England?
2 How did Sherlock Holmes help his clients?
3 Why was Holmes bored?

4 Who was Holmes' new clienc?

2

I Miss Morstan went to a hotel in London and asked for her fath
What did the hotel manager tell her? a d for her father

2 What was Captain Morstan's 1obin India?
3 Who was Major Sholto?
4 The next day Miss Morstan recetved a small cardboard b
: : o
{a) Whar was i the box? e
(b} How many times did she recerve the same sort of box?
5 Miss Morstan had come to see Sherlock Holmes because she had
recewved a note
{(a) Where was she to go that nigh K
ght at seven o'clock?
{b) Who could she bring wich her?
(¢} How was the note signed?
6 What did Holmes decide to do?

3

—_—

I Why did Holmes think that Mayor Sholto’s dearh was UnLport
2 Miss Morstan showed Holmes a piece of paper
(a) Where had she found 1¢?
(b} What was drawn on the paper’
(¢) How was the paper signed?
3 Who did Holmes, W
Theatte?
4 Where did they po?

ant?

atson and Miss Morstan meer at the Lyceum
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4

1 Why was Doctor Watson angry with Thaddeus Sholto?
! Thaddeus Sholto and his brother, Bartholomew, knew that their facher
was afraid of something Who did their facher think was following him?
3 Why did their facher become very 1)I?
4 When Captain Morstan and Major Sholto were i India they found a
great treasure
(a) What was the name of this treasure!
(b) Why did Captain Morstan and Major Sholro argue?
(¢} How did the argument end?
5 Whar did Major Sholto ask his sons to do?
6 Thaddeus and his brother, Bartholomew, found a note on the bed
bestde their father’s body What words were written on the note?

5
I Why did Thaddeus Sholto send the letrer ro Miss Motsran?
2 Where was the treasure’
3 Why was Doctor Watson unhappy?
4 Where did Thaddeus Sholta take Miss Morstan, Holmes and Watson?
5 Where had Bartholomew Sholto found the treasure chest?
6 When they arrived at Pondicherry Lodge, the house was dark
(a} What nose did they hear?

(b)Y Who opened the door?
(¢} What did she say to Thaddeus Sholta?

6

I What did Holmes and Warson see through the keyhole?
2 How did Bartholomew Sholto die?
3 Whar else made Thaddeus Sholta upset?

7

I How did Holmes know that a man with a wooden feg had been in the
room’

2 How did Watson think the wooden-legged man had got into the room?

3 Whar was strange about the footprints i the thick dust?

4 Describe murderer Number One
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8

Why did the murderers kit Major Sholto and Bartholomew Sholto?

Why was Holmes pleased that one of the murderers had stepped in the
creosote!

Why did Inspector Jones not want to histen to Sherlock Holimes?
Who did Tnspector Jones think the nwurderer was?

9

What two things did Holmes ask Watson to do?
What was special about the dog, Toby?

How did the pygmy ger up onto the roof of the Pondicherry Ladge?
‘He’s on the trail!’ cried Holmes. What trail had Toby found?

10

Why was Toby not able to follow the trail when they got to the River
Thames!?

Where had Mordecar South gone!?
Who had gone with hum?
Why was Mrs Smith wortied?

11

Why did Holmes not want to contact the police!
What did Holmes show Watson in the newspaper!
Why did the ragged children make such good agents for Holmes?

12

Doctor Watson went to tell Miss Morstan that they had not found the

treasure. That night he could not sleep. What was Watson thinking
abour?

How had Inspector Jones changed?
Where was the Aurora hidden?
What were the murderers planning to do?
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13

Suddenly a launch came out of the boatyard. How did they know that
1t was the Awroral

‘We fired our guns rogether.” Why did Holmes and Watson shoot at
the pygmy?

Whar happened to the pygmy!

Why was the wooden-legged man not able to escape?

What did Holmes and Wacson think was in the big, heavy chest?
How had Holmes and Watson escaped a horrible dearh?

14

Who was Jonathan Small?
Why did Watson not want to take the treasure to Miss Morstan!?
Why was Watson much happier after the chest had been opened?

15

What had happened to the Great Agra Treasure?

Who were the Sign of Four? Where did they meet?

How did Jonathan Small meet Captain Morstan and Major Sholto!?
Holmes said, ‘The Great Agra Treasure has at last brought happiness
to someone,” To whom had «t brought happiness?
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Glossary

I private detective (page 4)
someone who finds out how a crime happened and then tries to find
the criminal Sherlock Holmes 1s nor 4 pohiceman, he 15 a prisare

detective But sometimes he helps the police solve crumes of fid
criminals

2 client (page 4)
someone who comes to Sherlock Holmes and asks for help
3 mpatently (page 5)
Holmes 1s bored He wants somerhm
4 housekeeper (page 5)
a woman who looks after a house and the people living 1 ir
5 tray (page 5)
the people in thys story lived in the ninereench century When a
visitor arnved at someone’s house he or she gave the servant
The wvisitor’s name and address was on the card The servant then pur
the card on a tray and took 1t to the owner of the house In this story,
the housekeeper brings the card to Sherlock Holmes on a silver tray
6 advertised (page 7)
the police printed special messages n newspapers These messages
asked Captain Morstan ro come to them
7 omaments (page 7)
ornaments are small objects which are putin a room to make 1t
beautiful Caprain Morstan had collected many heaunful things on hus
travels in the world
8 old copies of the newspaper (page 10)
newspaper offices usually keep one copy of every newspaper they ha

printed People can find out what happened in the past by looking
these old copies

9 cab (page 11)

a carrage pulled by a horse There were no motor vehicles at the rime
of this story

10 magmfying glass {page 11)

a glass you look through that makes things seem larger
11 astonished (page 14)

very surprised
12 share (page 17)

Morstan isasking for the part of the rreasure he thinks he should have

g exanng ro happen

a card

ve
arl
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13 guilt (page 17)
gfeelmg of fear and worry because you have done something wrong
14 treasure chest (page 20) ool
a large, strong box containing valuable jewels and golc
15 thorn (page 23)
a sharp pownt that grows on the branches of some trees and bushes
16 pmsoned (page 23) ,
gmsnn ts something which can kill a person it 1t gets mrto thetr body
Powson has been put on che sharp end ot the thorn 1f the thorn cuts
someone, the poison will get mnro thetr blood and kill them
17 wmdow-sill {page 25)
a flat shelf at the bottom of a window
18 set of steps (page 26)
wooden stairs that can be carried from one place to another See
lluseration on page 24
19 daverf (page 27)
a person who is smaller than normal
20 pygmy (page 28) ‘
:war’gmles are a group of people who are unusually small Pygmaes live
m parts of Africa and Asia
21 revenge (page 28)
the Sign of Four have agreed that they will find and Ml the Shoko
fanuly because the fanuly stole the rreasure
17 oreosote (page 29) .
a dark brown liquid wich a very strong smell Creosote s used ro
protect wood
13 arvest — [ arvest you (page 31) |
the words used by a policeman when he catches a cimina
24 lead (page 34)
along, thin prece of leather A lead 1s fixed to a collar on the neck of
a dog to stop it runming away
25 dramn-pipe {page 34)
a long pipe on the side of a house Draimn-pipes carry the warter off the
roof of the house when 1t rains
26 jetty {page 37)
; srrong wooden platform built from the land into the water People
step from the jetty into boars
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27 steam launch for hire {page 37)

a steam [aunch 1s a boat whose engine is driven by steam Sream

comes fror warer heated by burning coal People pay Mordecai
Smich to use hus boats and steam launch
18 funnel (page 40)

the smoke from the burning coal on a steam launch comes out
through the funnel See illustratton on page 47
19 boatyard (page 45)

a large building where boars are built or repaited
30 fortress (page 49)

a strong building used by soldiers during wars
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